1960

# Gunnison-Fayette Canal Company v. Howard Roberts and F. Dwight Malmgren : Brief of Defendants and Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

From 1931 to and including 1956, defendants, as owners of a .7 c.f.s. water-right, have been paying to plaintiff their pro rata part of a \$35.00 charge, pursuant to contract made in 1931, for transporting 1.4 c.f.s. of water for a distance of six miles from the Sevier River to the point where the defendant Roberts' water was delivered to him, and a distance of about four miles to the point where defendant Malmgren's water was delivered to him.

At the conclusion of the year 1956 the plaintiff corporation attempted to abandon the agreement and in-

stead of accepting the \$35.00 charge, *assessed* a charge of \$177.74 against Howard Roberts and \$15.66 against defendant F. Dwight Malmgren.

Though the defendants used not to exceed the first one-third of a fifteen mile canal, the plaintiff has sought not only to set aside an agreement, practice and construction of twenty-five years, providing for an annual charge of \$35.00 for the use of the portion of the canal, but now seeks to charge defendants by way of an assessment for not only the maintenance of the entire canal, but to require defendants to pay the administrative and corporate costs of the plaintiff corporation.

Gunnison-Fayette Canal diverts from the Sevier River at a point between the towns of Axtel and Centerfield and extends to the north past the communities of Gunnison and Fayette, terminating at a point to the north of the town of Fayette and east of the Sevier Bridge Reservoir.

In the early land boom days of the Sevier River there was a development known as "Kearns and Robbins" and a diversion from the Sevier River to that land was made through what was known as the "Kearns and Robbins Canal," which canal now represents the approximate first four or five miles of the present Gunnison-Fayette Canal. In connection with subsequent acquisition of water rights from the Sevier River, the Gunnison-Fayette Canal Company by deed became a part owner in the Kearns-Robbins Canal and used the same to carry the water-rights acquired from the Sevier River to the Fayette Canal. The Fayette Canal had theretofore carried only waters from the San Pitch River. This proceed-

ing is only concerned with the Kearns-Robbins section of what is presently commonly known as the "Gunnison-Fayette Canal."

The general adjudication on the Sevier River which resulted in what is commonly known as the "Cox Decree" was initiated in about 1916, and by 1926, State Engineer Bacon had prepared his proposed determination of water-rights and there were then ensuing a number of hearings as well as trials to settle the respective water-rights to be determined and adjudicated for the entire Sevier River. The time with which we are particularly concerned in these negotiations was the year 1931, at which time defendant Howard Roberts owned 1.4 second feet of water designated as an "AA Right." This right came to Howard Roberts from his father, the original source having been known as Ryan Springs, tributary to the Sevier River. This water-right had been used by defendant Roberts on his land under the Dover Canal and had been transferred at various times under temporary permit from the State Engineer for use on lands of the defendant Roberts under the Kearns-Robbins Canal. There were other people in the year 1931 who were owners in and using the Kearns-Robbins Canal to divert their waters, such as the Dyring family, the Wintch and Nielsen families.

In about the year 1931 the Board of Directors of the Gunnison-Fayette Company consisted of Archie M. Mellor, W. J. Gribble, Elgin Mellor, Elijah James and Howard Roberts (T. 234). Archie M. Mellor was president, Howard Roberts was secretary and Elgin Mellor was treasurer. At a directors' meeting in 1930 a com-



mittee consisting of Archie Mellor and Howard Roberts were appointed to meet with the lower Sevier River users and to effect an agreement and, if necessary, to accept a deduction of ten per cent of their water-rights for a storage privilege in the Sevier Bridge Reservoir, but leaving it to the officers to make the best negotiations possible.

At a meeting of the directors of plaintiff corporation at the Roberts home in February, 1931, the report of this committee was presented, pursuant to which a discussion was had concerning the agreement that could be arrived at whereby the charge to Gunnison-Fayette for storage of its waters in Sevier Bridge Reservoir would be reduced from ten per cent to three per cent, providing the Roberts water be joined in the stipulation to take a discount of ten per cent from the 1.4 c.f.s. to the credit of the Sevier Bridge Reservoir. The Roberts 1.4 c.f.s. AA Right was a constant flow right which was not subject to pro rating at any time, irrespective of the flow of the Sevier River. Roberts had no need for storage and the matter concerned was an arrangement pursuant to which he would suffer a ten per cent discount of his water-right by bringing the water into the Gunnison-Fayette Canal, providing there was an agreement as to the charge that would be made for the use of the portion of the canal required to get the waters to his land.

Elgin Mellor, the treasurer and director, was called as a witness by the plaintiff, and he characterized the substance of what was said at the meeting as follows (T. 241):

"A. Well, I don't know who said it. It was either Mr. Mellor, Archie Mellor, or Mr. Roberts suggested that they put their water in the canal. And we talked over different terms and finally they agreed on them, we agreed on ten per cent of their water and \$35 a year."

At Pages 255 and 256 of the transcript Mr. Mellor characterized the meeting of February, 1931, as follows:

"Q. Going back to this meeting of 1931, Mr. Mellor, at that meeting you were negotiating a contract, the arrangement under which Howard Roberts would put that 1.4 AA right into the Gunnison-Fayette Canal, weren't you?

A. I think so.

Q. And so that contract was to involve his right to put the water into the canal, as well as what arrangements would be made for a charge for the use of the canal?

A. That is right.

\* \* \*

Q. And for the privilege of running his water in the canal he wanted to know what the term would be?

A. That is right.

Q. And did you arrive at terms that were agreeable in that meeting to both the corporation and to Mr. Roberts?

A. I think so.

Q. Now one of those terms had to do with the payment of \$35 each year, didn't they?

A. Well, that was part of it."

Again at Pages 258 and 259 of the transcript:

"Q. Now, let's go back to this. The \$35 was to be the cash charge that would be made so long as Roberts kept this water in the canal?

A. Yes.

Q. It wouldn't be \$40 or \$50 or any other figure. It was going to be \$35 as a cash assessment?

A. Yes.

Q. Is that correct?

A. Yes. In cash.

Q. All right. Now you claim that in addition to \$35 cash your company was to get ten per cent of whatever this 1.4 would have produced?

A. Right."

The minutes of the company concerned with this meeting and the contract negotiated between the plaintiff corporation and defendant Roberts read as follows (Defendants' Exhibit 3):

"Motion by W. J. Gribble and seconded by Elijah James. That the board accept the proposition of Howard Roberts to let him run his 1-4/10 s.f. of water less 10% of the same, in the Fayette Canal permanently for the sum of \$35.00 per year. That the 10% is to go to the Sevier Bridge Reservoir for the credit of the Fayette Canal Company as agreed by Howard Roberts as part consideration for the Canal Company getting storage rights in said reservoir for 3% of the Fayette Canal Company water instead of 10%."

As evidenced by defendants' motion and answer to the complaint, it is admitted that the above quoted paragraph from the minutes, originally written by the first wife of Howard Roberts, was removed with ink eradiator and rewritten. The plaintiff introduced evidence that the handwriting on the portion re-written was that of Howard Roberts' second wife. However, such re-

writing, if made by the second wife, would have had to have been made prior to 1941 (T.354), at which time there was a separation when the second wife moved to California.

The original notation made at the meeting by Howard Roberts, and from which the minutes were written into the official minute book of the company, is defendants' Exhibit 6. Such original notation contains all of the significant wording concerned with the minutes and supports the fact that whatever occurred in the re-writing of the minutes, the re-written portion directly reflects the action taken, as evidenced by the original notes.

## POINTS RELIED UPON

### POINT NO. I

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO SUSTAIN DEFENDANTS' MOTIONS TO DISMISS PLAINTIFF'S COMPLAINT AS A WHOLE AND AS TO EACH COUNT SEPARATELY.

### POINT NO. II

THE RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS OF THE PARTIES CONCERNING THE PORTION OF THE CANAL JOINTLY USED RESTING IN CONTRACT, AND THAT CONTRACT HAVING BEEN RECOGNIZED AND ACTED UPON BY THE PARTIES FOR OVER 25 YEARS, THE CONTRACT GOVERNS, AND SECTION 73-1-9, U.C.A., 1933, DOES NOT ABROGATE OR DISTURB RIGHTS OF THE PARTIES FOUNDED UPON SUCH CONTRACT.

### POINT NO. III

THE DELAY AND LACHES OF THE PLAINTIFF CORPORATION IN BRINGING THIS ACTION OVER 25 YEARS AFTER THE ACTUAL NOTICE BY DIRECTORS AND STOCKHOLDERS OF ALL FACTS AND CIRCUMSTANCES

CONSTITUTING THE CLAIMED ACTS OF MISCONDUCT OR IMPOSITION, COMBINED WITH THE INTERVENTION OF RIGHTS OF INNOCENT THIRD PERSONS WHO ACQUIRED WATER RIGHTS IN RELIANCE ON SAID CONTRACT, ESTOPS AND DEPRIVES THE PLAINTIFF CORPORATION FROM CHALLENGING OR SETTING ASIDE THE CONTRACT.

POINT NO. IV

THE PLAINTIFF CORPORATION CANNOT RETAIN THE BENEFITS OR FRUITS OF ITS CONTRACT AND ASSERT AS A DEFENSE THERETO PURPORTED ACTS OF MISCONDUCT OF ITS OFFICERS.

POINT NO. V

DIRECTORS OF A CORPORATION ARE NOT SUCH EXPRESS TRUSTEES AS WILL PREVENT THE OPERATION OF THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS AGAINST THE CORPORATION IN AN ACTION BY THE CORPORATION OR IN A STOCKHOLDER'S DERIVATIVE SUIT.

POINT NO. VI

A CO-USER OF A CANAL IS RESPONSIBLE ONLY FOR A PROPORTIONATE COST OF MAINTENANCE, OPERATION AND CONTROL OF THAT PORTION OF THE CANAL WHICH IS IN FACT JOINTLY USED.

POINT NO. VII

A CORPORATE CO-USER AND CO-OWNER OF A CANAL CANNOT REQUIRE ANOTHER CO-USER TO CONTRIBUTE TO THE PAYMENT OF CORPORATION SALARIES, COSTS OF CORPORATE MEETINGS, STATIONERY, CHECKS, COSTS OF BORROWING MONEYS FOR PURELY CORPORATE PURPOSES AS A PART OF CHARGES FOR MAINTENANCE, OPERATION AND CONTROL OF A JOINT CANAL.

POINT NO. VIII

FINDING OF FACT NO. 3 IS CONTRARY TO AND IS NOT SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE OR LAW, AS

PLAINTIFF IS NOT THE SOLE OWNER OF THE CANAL AS SHOWN BY DEEDS IN EVIDENCE DISCLOSING THAT DEFENDANTS AND OTHERS ARE CO-OWNERS OF THE CANAL.

#### POINT NO. IX

FINDING OF FACT NO. 8 IS CONTRARY TO AND IS NOT SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE OR LAW, AS THERE WAS NO COMPETENT EVIDENCE OR LEGAL BASIS UPON WHICH "REASONABLE EXPENSE" FOR WHICH DEFENDANTS WOULD BE LIABLE COULD BE DETERMINED; PARTICULARLY WAS THERE NO EVIDENCE TO SHOW THE TOTAL ACRE FEET OF WATER DIVERTED INTO THE CANAL OR DIVERTED AND DELIVERED TO THE DEFENDANTS, BUT IT AFFIRMATIVELY APPEARS THAT THE PLAINTIFF CORPORATION TOOK WATERS OF DEFENDANTS AND FAILED TO CREDIT OR PAY DEFENDANTS FOR THE WATERS SO TAKEN.

#### POINT NO. X

FINDING OF FACT NO. 9 IS CONTRARY TO AND IS NOT SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE OR LAW AS THERE WAS NO EVIDENCE INTRODUCED SHOWING THE ACTUAL COSTS OF OPERATING, MAINTAINING AND CONTROLLING THE PORTION OF THE CANAL JOINTLY USED, NOR WAS ANY BASIS PROVIDED BY WHICH THE COURT COULD ALLOCATE ANY OF THE EXPENSES TO THE PORTION OF THE CANAL JOINTLY USED, AND THE FINDING IS BASED PURELY ON CONJECTURE.

#### POINT NO. XI

FINDING OF FACT NO. 10 IS CONTRARY TO AND IS NOT SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE OR LAW, AS THE EVIDENCE SHOWED THE PLAINTIFF RESTED ITS CASE ON A MOTION PASSED BY ITS BOARD OF DIRECTORS ISSUING A CHARGE AGAINST DEFENDANTS UNSUPPORTED BY FACTS OR EVIDENCE ESTABLISHING A BASIS IN ACCORDANCE WITH LAW UPON WHICH ANY CHARGE COULD BE MADE.

#### POINT NO. XII

FINDINGS OF FACTS NOS. 13, 14, 16, 17 and 18 ARE CONTRARY TO AND NOT SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE OR LAW FOR THE REASON THAT THESE FINDINGS PURPORT TO ESTABLISH A BASIS FOR SETTING ASIDE A CONTRACT BY THE PLAINTIFF AND DEFENDANT ROBERTS WHICH HAD BEEN HONORED AND RECOGNIZED FOR A PERIOD OF OVER 25 YEARS AND SUCH FINDINGS ARE CONTRARY TO AND NOT SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE AND DO NOT IN LAW CONSTITUTE A BASIS UPON WHICH ANY RELIEF COULD BE AFFORDED.

#### POINT NO. XIII

FINDING OF FACT NO. 15 IS CONTRARY TO AND NOT SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE OR LAW FOR THE REASON THAT A COURT WILL NOT REWRITE OR DETERMINE VOID THE MINUTES OF A CORPORATION IN THIS TYPE OF AN ACTION WHERE NO OFFICER OF THE CORPORATION IS INVOLVED AND WHERE THE CORPORATION HAS NOT TAKEN ANY ACTION ITSELF TO CORRECT SAID MINUTES, AND IN A CIRCUMSTANCE SUCH AS IN THIS CASE PRESENTED WHERE THE MINUTES EVIDENCE THE ACTION OF A CORPORATION, AND THE CORPORATION HAS NOT ATTEMPTED TO ESTABLISH WHAT ACTION IF ANY TO THE CONTRARY WAS TAKEN.

#### POINT NO. XIV

FINDING OF FACT NO. 20 IS CONTRARY TO LAW AND NOT SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE AS THERE IS NO EVIDENCE THAT DEFENDANT HOWARD ROBERTS CONCEALED ANY MATERIAL FACT, AND THE EVIDENCE CLEARLY SHOWS THAT ALL STOCKHOLDERS, DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS WERE FOR OVER 25 YEARS ADVISED OF ALL OF THE FACTS OF WHICH COMPLAINT IS MADE BY PLAINTIFF.

#### POINT NO. XV

THAT THE CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND JUDGMENT ARE CONTRARY TO LAW AND NOT SUPPORTED BY THE FINDINGS.

## POINT NO. XVI

THE COURT ERRED IN PERMITTING THE SECRETARY TO COPY FROM SOME RECORD EVERY EXPENDITURE OF PLAINTIFF CORPORATION AND INTRODUCE SUCH IN EVIDENCE AS PROOF OF EXPENDITURES MADE ON A PORTION OF A CANAL JOINTLY USED AS BASIS FOR DEFENDANT'S LIABILITY AS A JOINT USER. (Tr. 71)

## ARGUMENT

### POINT NO. I

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO SUSTAIN DEFENDANTS' MOTIONS TO DISMISS PLAINTIFF'S COMPLAINT AS A WHOLE AND AS TO EACH COUNT SEPARATELY.

The complaint of the plaintiff is divided in three claims. In the first claim the plaintiff sets up that it owns and operates the Gunnison-Fayette Canal; that the defendants are stockholders in the plaintiff corporation and have separate rights from the Sevier River; that defendants use the Gunnison-Fayette Canal as a means of conveying water to their land to which they are entitled by virtue of their stock ownership in the plaintiff corporation and the water which they use under their own separate rights. The significant paragraph of the first claim is that "Howard Roberts owes the plaintiff the sum of \$161.74 for the balance of a water assessment legally assessed by plaintiff against defendants during the year 1956, as his share of the operation and maintenance costs of the canal system for conveying the said waters to his land."

The second claim contains a recital that the defendant Howard Robert claims that while he was a director



and officer of the plaintiff company, Roberts entered into an agreement with the company whereby he would be able to convey water under his own rights through the canal for a yearly charge of \$35.00. That such an agreement, if any there is, is void and unenforceable and was made against the best interest of the corporation and was made while Roberts was a trustee and officer of the corporation and was for the personal benefit of Roberts and against the interests of the corporation, and was made in violation of a duty of Roberts towards the corporation. That the present officers have now repudiated the alleged agreement and that it is null and void; that Malngren, as a successor from various persons to a portion of the original Roberts right should likewise be determined to have no right under such agreement.

The third claim states that there is a certain minute entry in the books of the Canal Company and that there has been an apparent erasure, and the minute entry does not state or show or reflect in truth and fact the actions of the Board of Directors in connection with the matter, and that the action has been repudiated and is now repudiated and should by the Court be declared to be of no force and effect.

As its first defense defendant and appellant directed motions to dismiss the complaint as a whole and as to each of the claims as though separately by each defendant.

As appears at page 24 of the transcript, defendant Howard Roberts had various water-rights in the Sevier River which he would use or lease to others. In addition, he had his rights as a stockholder to water of the Gunni-

son-Fayette Canal Company. Such other rights would be (a) for one-third of a second foot, which was known as the Nielson Class "A" right, and (b) the right of defendants Roberts and Malmgren having a combined value of .7 c.f.s. of AA water. Each such right would produce a different acre foot and consequently a different pro rata obligation, if there be any obligation shown.

Under the provisions of the Cox Decree the AA water-rights did not prorate (T. 231). It was a firm right which was to be taken from the waters of the Sevier River, irrespective of the amount of water flowing in that river, and did not have to be prorated with any other person. The Class "A" right had to be prorated. The amount of water which the Gunnison-Fayette Canal Company itself would receive and distribute per share would vary with the amount of the flow of the Sevier River and in accordance with the various types of rights which the Canal Company had which would produce a different volume of water from year to year, depending upon the flow of the Sevier River. The significance of this recital is to indicate that each of the rights referred to above would produce a different volume of water. In other words, under one right the defendant Roberts would receive a full water right which would not be diminished or prorated with any other use. That would be his "AA Right." His A right would not produce necessarily a third of the second foot but would have to take its prorated position with the other A rights using the canal.

Does the first claim, then, state a cause of action? Mr. Novak, counsel for plaintiff Irrigation Company,

states his action is under Section 73-1-9 for contribution from a co-user of the canal. To state a cause of action under such section it is submitted that the complaint must allege:

- (1) That defendant used water through the canal during a specified time.
- (2) The amount of water defendant used and the total amount of water used by all others through the canal for the same time.
- (3) Allege the amount that had been expended by plaintiff and others that used the canal for the period concerned, and describe such expense as *reasonable* and the nature of the same, and that such was for maintenance and operation and reasonably required, and what was the character and nature of the work and expense.

Plaintiff alleges that it legally assessed defendant \$161.74 during the year 1956 as his share of operation and maintenance costs of the canal system *for conveying the said waters to his lands.*

The words "said waters" can only refer to the waters theretofore described which the complaint states are waters received "as a stockholder" and "waters they use under their separate rights."

Plaintiff can assess its stock but it cannot assess a co-user.

Certainly without this complaint alleging that plaintiff spent money, or did work on the canal, it cannot be

said that this complaint states any basis in law showing an obligation of defendant to pay plaintiff any sum.

Plaintiff's counsel states that the stock assessment was paid by defendant and there is no issue over any obligation of defendant as a stockholder.

Because of the absolute lack of competent or any evidence showing sums spent on the portion of the canal jointly used, the plaintiff cannot now seek to amend its complaint, and it is submitted the motion to dismiss should be sustained.

Plaintiff had its Second Cause of Action dismissed ('T. 168-174). Though the District Court evidently had trouble determining who was plaintiff and what the motion to dismiss might effect, it is submitted that any issue to dismiss might effect, it is submitted that this claim was dismissed. (See minutes of June 25, 1958)

Certainly the third claim raises no issue against defendants. The third claim is merely a recital of a portion of corporate minutes, with a statement that there is no erasure and that though admittedly there was action taken by the Board, the minutes do not reflect the action taken; that the action is repudiated. No cause for repudiation is alleged; no allegation as to who made any alteration; no allegation as to what the action was; no allegation that the corporation seeks to correct the minutes.

It is clear that no cause for relief is stated against either defendant, but more important no cause, no complaint is made at all.

The action should be now and should have been dismissed both on the pleadings and in accordance with defendants' motion to dismiss made at the conclusion of plaintiff's case (T. 321).

## POINT NO. II

THE RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS OF THE PARTIES CONCERNING THE PORTION OF THE CANAL JOINTLY USED RESTING IN CONTRACT, AND THAT CONTRACT HAVING BEEN RECOGNIZED AND ACTED UPON BY THE PARTIES FOR OVER 25 YEARS, THE CONTRACT GOVERNS, AND SECTION 73-1-9, U.C.A., 1933, DOES NOT ABROGATE OR DISTURB RIGHTS OF THE PARTIES FOUNDED UPON SUCH CONTRACT.

In *West Union Canal Company v. Thornley*, 228 P. 199, 64 Utah 77 this court states :

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