1960

# Gunnison-Fayette Canal Company v. Howard Roberts and F. Dwight Malmgren : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

All of the stockholders of respondent corporation pay their assessments based upon the expenses of operating and maintaining the entire canal system. Likewise, all of the other joint users pay their pro-rata share of the expenses of operating and maintaining the entire canal system. The services which appellants receive are of equal benefit to them as are those to the other users under the canal and good conscience and fair play dictates that they should pay on the same basis. Appellants cite no authority that it should be otherwise. We submit that under the law and the facts of this case, appellants are and should be obligated to pay for their proportionate shares of the expenses for operating, maintaining and controlling the entire length of the Gunnison-Fayette Canal.



## POINT VII

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ITS FINDINGS THAT APPELLANT ROBERTS OWES RESPONDENT THE SUM OF \$161.74, AND THAT APPELLANT MALMGREN OWES RESPONDENT THE SUM OF \$14.16, FOR THEIR RESPECTIVE BALANCES OF THEIR PROPORTIONATE SHARES OF THE EXPENSES OF OPERATING AND MAINTAINING THE GUNNISON-FAYETTE CANAL DURING THE YEAR 1956.

The trial Court found that during the year 1956, there was delivered to appellant Roberts, 177.74 acre feet of water and to appellant Malmgren, 15.66 acre feet of water from the Gunnison-Fayette Canal under their class "AA" right. (F'dg. 8, R. 31). The foregoing is supported by the evidence. (R. 123, 150, Exh. 4, back of page 1). Appellants argue under Point IX of their brief that there was no evidence to show how much water was delivered to appellants because such figures are not specifically shown on Exhibits 11 and 13. Yet they offered no evidence to disprove either figure. Our answer is that they should look on pages 73 and 100 of the transcript (R. 123, 150) and on the back of page 1 of Exhibit 4. The foregoing quantities of water were determined from the river commissioner's reports (Exh. 4) of water delivered into the head of the canal minus the shrinkage (loss) in the canal. (R. 116, 146).

Dean Bartholemew, secretary of respondent corporation, testified that during the year of 1956, there was delivered to the stockholders of respondent corporation a total of approximately 1 acre foot of water per share of stock. (R. 124). Of this amount there was 0.54 acre feet per share of irrigation water delivered and the

balance was delivered outside of the irrigation season. (R. 123, 124).

Mr. Bartholomew prepared Exhibit 5, which is an account of the expenditures made by respondent corporation during the year 1956. (R. 116). It contains all of the expenditures for operation, maintenance, administration and improvements for the year 1956. (R. 118). Under Point XVI of appellants' brief, they argue that the trial Court erred in permitting the secretary to copy from the records of the respondent corporation, the expenditures made and introduce such in evidence as proof of such expenditures. Any objection which appellants might have with respect thereto was waived by counsel for appellants on the bottom of page R. 118 and the top of page R. 119, wherein Mr. Burton stated "Judge, without going into the books, I am willing to take the tabulation as representing the various expenditures that the books of this corporation would show." The only objection raised by appellants was that the Exhibit includes many items that would not pertain to the operation and maintenance of a canal. (R. 119).

The expenditures shown on Exhibit 5 were presented to the board of directors of respondent corporation at its regular board meeting in October, 1956. (R. 124). Based upon the foregoing expenditures and the water delivered, it was determined that an assessment of \$1.00 per share be levied against the stock of respondent corporation to cover their share of the expenses of operation and maintenance of the canal and the administration and distribution of the company's water from the canal

for the year 1956. (R. 128). Since the stockholders received approximately 1 acre foot of water per share, it was determined by the directors that the fair contribution by the individual users of the canal should be \$1.00 per acre foot of water delivered from the canal as their proportionate share of the cost of operation and maintenance of the canal and for the administration and distribution of the water therefrom during the year 1956. (R. 128). The amount so determined for appellant Roberts was \$177.74, based upon a delivery of 177.74 acre feet of water, and for appellant Malmgren was \$15.66, based upon a delivery of 15.66 acre feet of water. Appellant Roberts paid \$16.00 and appellant Malmgren paid \$1.50 for a total of \$17.50. They based the foregoing payment on their claim that they were obligated to pay only one-half of the \$35.00 or \$17.50, since together they owned one-half of the original 1.4 sec. ft. of class "AA" water right.

Appellants strenuously argue that the list of expenditures shown on Exhibit 5 include purely corporate expenditures and that their proportionate shares of the expenses found by the trial Court were based in part thereon. Under Point VII of their brief they list 11 items which they claim should not be included. What appellants overlook is that respondent corporation is engaged solely in the business of the distribution of waters from the Gunnison-Fayette Canal to the stockholders and joint users under the canal. The directors administer the distribution of the waters both to respondent corporation's stockholders and to all joint users, including

appellants. Voucher books and check books are used to pay the obligations incurred in the administration and distribution of the waters. Equipment rentals are for cleaning, repairing, maintaining and improving the canal. Measuring devices and locks insure better distribution. The foregoing are a few of the many reasons why the items listed are properly included.

We concede the law to be that an individual joint user of a canal cannot be charged with expenses which are purely corporate in nature. *Perry Irrigation Company vs. Thomas*, 74 Ut. 193, 278 P. 535. The same contention made by appellants herein was raised in the foregoing case. It was urged by the defendants in that case that the charges sought to be collected by plaintiff were in the nature of corporate assessments. This Court held that the defendants point was not well taken since the trial was had and judgment rendered on the theory of holding defendants for their proportionate share of the expenses, excluding strictly corporate items.

In this case, the trial court found that respondent corporation paid for the cost, operation and maintenance of the Gunnison-Fayette Canal and for the expenses of administration and distribution of the waters therefrom for the year 1956, and that such cost and expenses amounted to \$1.00 per acre foot of water delivered. (Fdg. 9, R. 31). The trial Court further found that the fair proportionate share of the cost of operation and maintenance of the Gunnison-Fayette Canal and for the expenses of administration and distribution of the waters delivered to appellant Roberts under his class "AA" water right

for the year 1956 was \$177.74 and to appellant Malmgren under his class "AA" water right for the year 1956 was \$15.66. (Fdg. 10, R. 31). Appellants offered no evidence to show that their fair and proportionate shares should be otherwise. All they do is stand back and criticise the method employed in determining the same. Appellants respective proportionate shares were determined on the same basis as all other users under the canal. We respectfully submit that their respective proportionate shares as found and determined by the trial Court and that basis used in determining the same are fair, reasonable and are supported by the evidence.

#### POINT VIII

THE EVIDENCE ESTABLISHES THAT THE LAST PARAGRAPH OF THE MINUTE ENTRY OF FEBRUARY 28, 1931, APPEARING IN RESPONDENT'S CORPORATE MINUTE BOOK WAS ALTERED BY AND UNDER THE DIRECTION OF APPELLANT ROBERTS AND DOES NOT TRULY REFLECT THE ACTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AT THAT MEETING.

It is obvious from a visual inspection that the last paragraph of the minute entry of February 28, 1931, appearing in respondent's corporate minute book (Exhibit 3, page 66) has been altered. In appellants' amended answer, it is alleged that the paragraph was originally written by the first wife of appellant, Roberts was removed with ink eradicator by appellant Roberts and was rewritten by his first wife at his direction prior to the next ensuing board meeting of respondent corporation, and that the same truly reflected the action of the directors at that meeting and was read to and approved by

the directors and stockholders. (R. 14). Yet appellants offered no evidence either by way of a subsequent minute entry or by oral testimony to show that such minute entry was ever read to or approved by either the directors or the stockholders of the respondent corporation.

The admittedly altered minute entry was carefully examined by J. Perry Goddard, a handwriting expert who testified that the altered portion of the minute entry was without question in handwriting different from the handwriting of the first portion of the same minute entry and was different from any other handwriting which appeared in the minute book. (R. 184-187, inc.). Mr. Goddard further testified that without question the altered portion of the minute entry was written by the same person who wrote the letter marked Exhibit 7. (R. 188-190, inc.). The witness Carolyn Jensen identified the handwriting of the letter marked Exhibit 7 to be that of her Aunt Florence, who was also the second wife of appellant Roberts. (R. 227).

Grace Roberts, the first wife of appellants Roberts, passed away on June 18, 1933. (R. 169). He married his second wife Florence in July of 1936. (R. 433). It follows that the altered portion of the minute entry was not made until sometime after July of 1936 when appellant Roberts married his second wife Florence, which was at least five years after the board meeting of February 28, 1931. Yet appellant Roberts was positive that the minute entry was made by either his first wife Grace or his daughter Vera. (R. 170).

Appellant Roberts could not remember what was

erased nor what changes had been made. (R. 431). He testified that the altered portion of the minute entry truly reflected the action taken by the board at that meeting. (R. 180). Yet, he at no time ever obtained the approval of the board of directors of respondent corporation authorizing him to make the alteration or changes. (R. 432).

The witness Elgin Mellor, who was a director, and was present at the board of directors meeting of February 28, 1931, unequivocally testified that the altered portion of the minute entry does not reflect the action taken by the board of directors at that meeting. (R. 290, 291). He testified that the arrangement made at the meeting was that appellant Roberts would give the respondent corporation 10 percent of his class "AA" water right and \$35.00 per year for permission to convey his water through the canal. (R. 291). The arrangement decided upon was to be temporary from year to year. (R. 296, 307, 318). The 10 percent of the appellant Roberts' class "AA" water right was to go directly to the respondent corporation. (R. 291).

The trial Court found that at some time subsequent to the year 1936 and prior to the year 1952 a new paragraph was written in place of the original last paragraph of the minute entry by Florence Roberts the second wife of appellant Howard Roberts, under his direction, and that such paragraph as rewritten does not state nor reflect the action taken by the directors of respondent corporation at the meeting of February 28, 1931, and that said paragraph is void and has no force or

effect. (F'dg. 19, R. 36). We submit that for 25 years appellant Roberts used the altered minute entry to impose upon his corporation and the trial Court properly set the same aside.

#### POINT IX

#### RESPONDENT'S CLAIMS ARE NOT BARRED BY LACHES OR ESTOPPEL.

It is undisputed that during the period 1931 until 1956, inclusive, appellant Roberts was continuously secretary, director and watermaster of the respondent corporation and as such was in fact the managing agent thereof. He kept the books and administered the distribution of water and collected assessments during the entire period. The directors would annually fix the assessment per share of stock and the amounts of contribution for the joint users and left the sending of notices and collection of the monies to appellant Roberts. He administered and distributed the waters from the canal to the various stockholders and joint users and to himself, both under his stock ownership and his class "AA" right without disclosure to his corporation that he was not relinquishing 10 percent of his water to it. As a matter of fact, the witness Elgin Mellor, who was a director for 27 years and watermaster for approximately 12 years on the lower portion of the canal did not learn that respondent corporation was not getting the 10 percent of appellant Roberts' class "AA" water right until shortly before the trial of this action in June of 1958. Respondent's records, including its corporate minute book (Exh. 3) were in appellant Roberts'



possession until the year 1956 when he turned the same over to the new secretary. When the new board of directors was elected in 1956, the officers immediately asserted the claims of the respondent corporation against appellants, and when appellants refused to comply this action was commenced.

Delay in seeking relief prior to the time of acquiring knowledge of a director's breach of trust, or the gaining of such information as reasonably to place the complainant on inquiry does not constitute laches. 10 A.L.R. 378. The defense of laches as a general rule is not available to a director who has by some affirmative act attempted to conceal his violation of trust from the complaining stockholders, provided, relief is sought within a proper time after discovery of the dereliction. 13 Am. Jur., Corporations, Sec. 1022, p. 972, 10 A.L.R. 379, 380. In the case of *Hansen vs. Granite Holding Company*, 117 Utah 530, 218 P. 2nd. 274, this Court held that the stockholders were not estopped from asserting their rights because of the fact that certain original plaintiffs, as to whom the action had been dismissed, had stood by and allowed the president of the corporation to manage the corporation as his own property for more than 25 years.

Under Point V of their brief, appellants argue that directors of a corporation are not such express trustees as will prevent the operation of the statute of limitations against the corporation in an action by the corporation or in a stockholders derivative suit, and cite authority in support thereof. However, such authority is limited

to those instances where there has been no concealment of the cause of action. The general rule is that one who wrongfully conceals material facts and thereby prevents discovery of his wrong or the fact that a cause of action has accrued against him is not permitted to assert the statute of limitations as a bar to an action against him, thus taking advantage of his wrong, until the expiration of the full statutory period from the time when the facts were discovered or should, with reasonable diligence, have been discovered. 34 Am. Jur., Limitation of Actions, Sec. 231, p. 188.

The record is clear that any representations made to appellant Malmgren or his predecessors that a contract existed covering the costs of administration and distribution of the class "AA" water involved herein, were made by appellant Roberts personally and not as an officer of the respondent. Respondent corporation certainly cannot be charged with his misrepresentations. In addition thereto, this case does not involve the repudiation of a contract since a contract was never made.

The trial Court found that during the period from 1931 to 1956, inclusive, appellant Roberts was in fact the managing agent of respondent corporation, and during such period, he concealed material facts from his corporation. (Fdg. 20, R. 36). Appellants had the burden of proving facts which would constitute laches or an estoppel. The trial Court found that the evidence fails to show facts from which a finding could be made that the conduct of respondent corporation and its officers for the delay until 1957 to commence this action was

unreasonable and constituted laches or an estoppel. (Fdg. 20, R. 37). We submit that under the facts of this case, the trial Court did not err in finding and concluding that respondent's claims for relief are not barred by laches or estoppels.

## CONCLUSION

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